FILED
DEC 22 2015

FILED
Nov 25, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
CRJ

Supreme Court No. 92540-2

Court of Appeals No. 72415-1-I

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID PONCE and KARIM ZAPANA, individually and as Co-Personal
Representatives of the Estate of JACOB PONCE, a deceased minor child,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

v.

THE MOUNTAINEERS,

Defendant-Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Leonard J. Feldman, WSBA No. 20961
Felix Gavi Luna, WSBA No. 27087
PETERSON | WAMPOLD | ROSATO | LUNA | KNOPP
1501 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2800
Seattle, WA 98101
206-624-6800

Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are David Ponce and Karim Zapana, individually and as co-personal representatives of the Estate of Jacob Ponce, a deceased minor child, plaintiffs/appellants/cross-respondents in the Court of Appeals.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals' November 2, 2015 opinion is attached to this petition at App. 1-23.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Seven-year-old Jacob Ponce died when his snow sled entered a highway at the base of a groomed access path at a sledding area operated by The Mountaineers (defendant/respondent/cross-appellant in the Court of Appeals). Plaintiffs filed a motion in limine to exclude expert testimony that the access path "was a good example of industry best practices." The trial court denied that motion, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. The issues presented are:

1. Whether litigants can circumvent this Court's specific foundational requirements for industry standard testimony by asserting that an alleged industry standard is based on the practices of numerous industry participants without establishing the conduct of two or more other entities under similar circumstances.
2. Even if The Mountaineers' conduct is consistent with an applicable industry standard, whether that standard should insulate snow recreation areas from liability where, as here, the defendant failed

to construct some sort of barrier to *safely* prevent invitees from sliding down a groomed access path *directly* into a roadway.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Snoqualmie Campus.

The Mountaineers owns and operates a sledding area called the Snoqualmie Campus. 5/21 RP at 9. The facility is adjacent to Washington State Route 906 (“SR 906”). *Id.* at 15. Customers park along that highway and are directed to access the Campus by hiking up a snow-covered pathway. *Id.* at 61. The sledding area is located at the top of this path, which funnels *directly* into SR 906. *Id.* at 15-16; Ex. 14.

The Mountaineers knew that the path was steep and dangerous. Mary Lynch, the former Chair of The Mountaineers’ Snoqualmie Group who oversaw the operation of the Snoqualmie Campus, acknowledged that “it’s a thousand feet up a steep incline.” 5/21 RP at 16. She likewise admitted that “[i]t was groomed snow.” *Id.* As summarized at trial: “you’ve got a slope that is 10 to 20 percent, compacted groomed snow, straight shot right onto the highway.” 5/20 RP at 93. If a sled slips out of someone’s hand, “you’re not catching up to it.” *Id.* at 96.

The Mountaineers also recognized that someone might sled down this path into SR 906. Ms. Lynch testified:

- Q. You were concerned that somebody might take a right or a left turn, come down, get on the pathway.
- A. Correct.
- Q. Get on the pathway and end up in the road.
- A. Correct.
- Q. And have them be injured or killed, correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Just like what happened to Jacob.
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. And you were so concerned about that that you talked to The Mountaineers about that.
- A. About the trespassers on the trail? Yes.
- Q. Yeah. And you told them that you were concerned that one of them would end up in the road and hit by a car.
- A. Yes.

5/21 RP at 32-33. Martinique Grigg, the executive director of The Mountaineers, acknowledged that Ms. Lynch and other Snoqualmie Campus committee members “shared with me their concern about trespassers.” 5/22 RP at 115 (Grigg deposition testimony).

The record also establishes that The Mountaineers had a contract with a company called “Ski Lifts” whereby Ski Lifts provided free snow grooming services to The Mountaineers in exchange for allowing it to cross The Mountaineers’ property to perform work for its paying customers. Ex. 1. As a result, Ski Lifts could have created a snow berm at the base of the access path *at no ongoing cost to The Mountaineers*. 5/20 RP at 130. Rather than direct Ski Lifts to do so, The Mountaineers directed Ski Lifts to “to *avoid* the creation of a berm ... at the terminus of

the pathway with State Route 906.” 5/21 RP at 19 (emphasis added); *see also* 5/22 RP at 118-19 (“we specifically requested that [referring to the access path grooming] to allow for pedestrian access”).

Because The Mountaineers did not construct a barrier at the base of its access path, the path looked like this:



Ex. 46; 5/20 RP at 127-31. In short, The Mountaineers *created* a hazard by grooming the access trail and removing the snow berm at the base of the trail and then *failed* to take reasonable steps to eliminate that hazard.

5/20 RP at 119-20.

B. Jacob Ponce's Tragic Death.

Jacob's family visited the Snoqualmie Campus in February 2011. 5/27 RP at 34. Like other customers, they parked along SR 906 and were directed by a representative of The Mountaineers to walk up the snow-covered pathway to the sledding area. 5/22 RP at 23; 5/27 RP at 36-38. After hiking approximately 65 feet from the highway, Jacob grew tired and unexpectedly sat down on the sled that was being pulled up the path by his older sister, Shaina. 5/20 RP at 92; 5/22 RP at 29; 5/27 RP at 40. The rope slipped from Shaina's hand and Jacob began sliding down the steep pathway towards the highway. 5/22 RP at 29; 5/27 RP at 40.

Jacob's father described what happened next as follows:

- Q. When you realized that Jacob was on the sled, Mr. Ponce, what did you do?
- A. At that moment, I thought I would be able to hold onto him, grab him with my hand. And I was able to get a hold of him. But I was wearing gloves, and I wasn't able to hold onto him.

Then I walked and ran. I saw everything at that moment. It was like in a movie, jumping onto him, pushing him off to the left-hand side, push him to the right-hand side. But I kept going, and I was able to step on the rope. The first time I felt that something pulled. And I ran harder, and I jumped on the rope. I twist my feet against the snow, and I stopped it.

And the whole time he was looking at me and laughing. He was saying, "Papi, I'm having fun." And I said, "Honey, get off. Get off, honey." But I was able to stop the rope, and I crouched over. And then when I crouched over, the rope came loose. And

then I tried to move to react, but I wasn't able to because I was crouched over.

He shot off like a bullet. I couldn't even believe what I was seeing.

Q. Did you chase after him, Mr. Ponce?

A. Yes, but he was going so fast. And by the time I stopped, he was so far away from me.

Q. Did you see the car hit your son, Mr. Ponce?

A. I ran after him, and I prayed to God. I said, "God, please forgive me if I'm done something wrong. Save my child." I had -- I hoped that he might be saved, but I saw when the man hit him.

5/22 RP at 29-30. Jacob's mother likewise testified:

Q. I know this is difficult. But can you just kind of walk us through what happened?

A. We were going up, and I saw Jacob sitting down and going down the hill. I scream. David -- my son, he tried to save him. He run. And I frozen -- I couldn't move. I was screaming. In my mind, I want to jump. I want to do something but I couldn't move. (inaudible) running behind him. And I heard the car. I run. (inaudible)

I hold him, start talking, saying "Jacob, please, wake up, answer me." He was warm. He (inaudible) always wait for me. I said, Jacob, he's going to answer me. He was answer me when I call him. I said, "Jacob, remember you promised, wake up." He wasn't moving.

5/27 RP at 40. Just as Ms. Lynch had predicted would someday happen, Jacob's parents watched in horror as Jacob's sled entered the roadway and he was run over by a passing car. 5/22 RP at 30; 5/27 RP at 40. Jacob died as a result of that accident. 5/22 RP at 31; 5/27 RP at 42.

C. Relevant Procedural Background.

Plaintiffs filed suit in May 2012. CP 1-4. The central issue at trial was whether The Mountaineers was negligent because it did not maintain a barrier at the base of its access path. To address that issue, The Mountaineers retained Chris Stoddard to testify that the access path at the Snoqualmie Campus was consistent with “industry best practices.” CP 456-57 ¶ 6. But when Plaintiffs deposed Mr. Stoddard and asked him to identify the factual basis for his opinions, he did not identify any other sledding area operator that did not construct a barrier at the base of an access path under similar circumstances. CP 290-313.

Plaintiffs therefore filed a motion in limine to exclude Mr. Stoddard’s testimony regarding a purported industry standard. In that motion, Plaintiffs argued:

The Mountaineers cannot point to a single other commercial sledding operation, much less the *several* necessary to establish “custom,” that has an access road or pathway that feeds directly into a highway and failed to place any barricades to protect its patrons from unwittingly entering the highway. Thus, there is no uniform practice in the industry or anything close to it.

CP 325. At oral argument, Plaintiffs’ counsel again asserted that any such “industry standard” testimony should be excluded because “there’s no way for us to cross him on that, because *he couldn’t identify a specific area*

that he was referring to.” 5/15 RP at 106; *see also id.* at 119 (objecting to opinion testimony “based on every place that I’ve gone ... without giving us some sort of foundation to test whether... what he’s saying is true”).

The Mountaineers did not refute these assertions. In its responsive briefing, The Mountaineers argued that Mr. Stoddard “simply relies on his professional experience.” CP 429 n.2. At oral argument, counsel similarly stated: “his opinions on an industry standard are based on looking at over a hundred facilities.” 5/15 RP at 113. The Mountaineers also submitted a declaration in which Mr. Stoddard claimed, once more, that he relied on “hundreds of inspections across the country” without identifying a single sledding area operator that did not construct a barrier at the base of an access path under similar circumstances. CP 460 ¶ 16.

The trial court nevertheless denied Plaintiffs’ motion in limine. CP 713 (court will “allow Mr. Stoddard to refer to ‘industry standards,’ in describing his understanding of what other recreation areas do”). Mr. Stoddard then testified that the access path at the Snoqualmie Campus was “very typical of what I’ve seen all over the place” and “a good example of industry best practices.” 5/28 RP at 109, 111. Accepting that testimony, the jury returned a defense verdict (CP 918) even though, as noted, undisputed evidence establishes that The Mountaineers could have

constructed a barrier at the base of its access path at no ongoing cost and was aware of the risk that someone could sled into the roadway just as Jacob did. The trial court entered judgment on the jury's verdict (CP 930-32), and Plaintiffs appealed (CP 970-91).

The Court of Appeals affirmed. Notably, the Court of Appeals did not find that any trial court error was not prejudicial. Nor could it, as Mr. Stoddard's testimony directly addressed *the central standard of care issue* in the case. See CP 899 (jury instruction that negligence is based on what "a reasonably careful person would have done *under the same or similar circumstances*") (emphasis added); CP 902 ("Ordinary care ... means the care a reasonably careful adult person or corporation would exercise *under the same or similar circumstances*") (emphasis added). Instead, as set forth below, the Court concluded that the trial court "acted well within its discretion when it allowed Stoddard to testify about industry standard and practice." App. 22. Plaintiffs now seek discretionary review.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court Of Appeals' Opinion Conflicts With Decisions Of This Court Holding That Where Industry Standard Testimony Is Relevant, It Must Be Established By The Conduct Of Two Or More Other Entities Under Similar Circumstances (RAP 13.4(b)(1)).

Under this Court's precedent, for industry standard testimony to be admissible, the proponent of the evidence must establish that standard by

the conduct of two or more other entities under similar circumstances. This Court's opinion in *Miller v. Staton*, 58 Wn.2d 879, 365 P.2d 333 (1961), is controlling on this point. The plaintiffs in *Miller* sued the owner of a tavern after they were injured by two other patrons who were fighting in the tavern. *Id.* at 881. To prove that the tavern owner was negligent, the plaintiffs offered testimony concerning the safety practices of *one* other establishment that served liquor. *Id.* at 885. The jury found liability, and the tavern owner appealed. *Id.* at 881.

On appeal, this Court vacated the trial court's judgment and remanded the matter for a new trial. Addressing the admissibility of an alleged industry standard, this Court held:

The defendants contend the court erred by admitting into evidence testimony concerning the practices of another establishment, the Eagles Lodge in Omak, as to policing and keeping order. We agree. Although, *where negligence is in issue, the usual conduct or general custom of others under similar circumstances is relevant and admissible, such custom may not be established by evidence of conduct of single persons or businesses.* Therefore, the evidence as to the custom of policing in the bar of the Eagles Lodge was inadmissible and prejudicial to the fair consideration by the jury of the adequacy of care exercised by the defendants for their patrons' safety

Id. at 885 (emphasis added; internal citation omitted). As the italicized text makes clear, before "industry standard" testimony may be admitted,

the proponent must establish that it is based upon the conduct of two or more other entities “*under similar circumstances.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Equally important here, the Court in *Miller* did more than find reversible error. Based on the errors committed by the trial court, the Court held that “defendants were denied a fair trial.” *Id.* at 888. That is precisely what Plaintiffs’ counsel asserted here at oral argument: that “there’s no way for us to cross” Mr. Stoddard with regard to his industry standard testimony. 5/15 RP at 106. Counsel thus objected to Mr. Stoddard’s industry standard testimony “without giving us some sort of foundation to test whether ... what he’s saying is true.” *Id.* at 119. As *Miller* confirms, allowing a party to offer industry standard testimony under such circumstances denies the opposing party “a fair trial.” 58 Wn.2d at 888.

Two other decisions of this Court are also instructive here. In *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 130 Wn.2d 160, 174-75, 922 P.2d 59 (1996), this Court held that the trial court correctly excluded evidence that another drug manufacturer had provided in its advertising additional information about a product and its potential dangers because there was no showing that this “single post-incident statement” was the industry standard. Similarly, in *Haysom v. Coleman Lantern Co.*, 89 Wn.2d 474,

489, 573 P.2d 785 (1978), the Court held: “[W]hile evidence of a general industry standard or custom is relevant to show negligence (or in this case defective labeling), evidence of the practices of a single other business or person is inadmissible.”

The Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with these opinions. The Court of Appeals did not apply the “similar circumstances” requirement in *Miller*, nor did it discuss or acknowledge this Court’s opinion in *Haysom*. The Court of Appeals acknowledged *Young*, but concluded that the opinion is “not helpful” because it “did not involve a question of industry standard.” App. 22. Yet this Court expressly held in *Young* that the conduct of another industry participant was *inadmissible* because “there was no showing that the single post-incident statement in the Sustaire advertisement was the *industry standard* with respect to theophylline.” 130 Wn.2d at 175 (emphasis added). *Young* thus confirms, as Plaintiffs argued, that to establish an industry standard there must be evidence regarding the conduct of more than one other actor under similar circumstances.

Rather than apply these opinions to Mr. Stoddard’s industry standard testimony, the Court of Appeals relied on a Vermont decision – *LaVallee v. Vermont Motor Inns, Inc.*, 569 A.2d 1073 (Vt. 1989) – for the

proposition that “at least one other court has affirmed the use of generalized industry custom expert testimony.” App. 18. Although the court in *Lavallee* held that “the trial court appropriately considered evidence of the motel industry’s practice and custom” (569 A.2d at 1075), there is nothing in the opinion indicating that the plaintiff challenged the testimony as lacking foundation nor is there any indication that Vermont courts apply the same foundational requirements as this Court applied in *Miller, Young, and Haysom*. For these reasons, the Court of Appeals’ reliance on *LaVallee* is misplaced.

The Court of Appeals also applied the wrong legal standard in faulting Plaintiffs’ counsel for failing to ask Mr. Stoddard at his deposition to “name, list or identify a specific area” that had an access path similar to the access path at the Snoqualmie Campus. App. 18. Although Plaintiffs did not ask Mr. Stoddard the precise questions identified by the Court of Appeals, that is because they approached Mr. Stoddard’s deposition differently: they asked him to state *in detail* the factual basis for his opinions. CP 290-313. In response to this inquiry, Mr. Stoddard did not identify another sledding area operator that did not construct a barrier at the base of an access path under similar circumstances. Then, based on Mr. Stoddard’s testimony, Plaintiffs filed a motion in limine stating that

“The Mountaineers cannot point to a single other commercial sledding operation, much less the *several* necessary to establish ‘custom,’ that has an access road or pathway that feeds directly into a highway and failed to place any barricades to protect its patrons from unwittingly entering the highway.” CP 325.

At that point, it was legally irrelevant whether Plaintiffs’ counsel did or did not ask Mr. Stoddard any particular questions, because *it was The Mountaineers’ burden to establish admissibility*. See *State v. Land*, 121 Wn.2d 494, 500, 851 P.2d 678 (1993) (“A party seeking to admit evidence bears the burden of establishing a foundation for that evidence.”); *State v. Vaughn*, 101 Wn.2d 604, 611, 682 P.2d 878 (1984) (“The burden of laying a foundation that the witness had an adequate opportunity to observe the facts to which he testifies is upon the proponent of the testimony.”). Yet as the Court of Appeals’ opinion confirms (App. 7-10, 16-17) and as noted on pages 7-8 above, The Mountaineers did not identify in their responsive briefing or argument a single sledding area operator that did not construct a barrier at the base of an access path under similar circumstances as required by this Court’s precedent. Without that foundational evidence, Mr. Stoddard’s industry standard testimony was inadmissible. Because the Court of Appeals’ contrary decision conflicts

with this Court's opinions regarding these issues, discretionary review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. This Petition Also Involves Issues of Substantial Importance That Should Be Determined By This Court (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

The Court of Appeals' discussion of *LaVallee* is especially troubling because it sanctions a legal standard that is entirely foreign to Washington law: that trial courts can properly admit and juries can properly consider "generalized industry custom expert testimony." App. 18. In *LaVallee*, for example, a witness testified regarding a purported industry standard based on "my ten years [in the industry] and all my travels." 569 A.2d at 1075 (brackets and bracketed text in original). And in this case, Mr. Stoddard testified based on "years of experience" and his inspections of "a hundred different areas." App. 17. If that sort of nebulous testimony is enough to allow an expert witness to testify that there is an "industry standard," it is hard to imagine an expert witness who could *not* so testify. That fundamental change in Washington practice is an exceptionally important issue and warrants this Court's review.

There is, moreover, another profoundly important issue in this case: as noted previously, The Mountaineers did not construct a barrier at the base of a groomed and steep access path that funneled directly into a roadway even though it could have done so at no ongoing cost and was

aware of the risk that someone could sled into the roadway just as Jacob did. *See supra* at 2-4. The jury, in turn, sanctioned that nonfeasance, the trial court judge denied Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. App. 1. As a result, if The Mountaineers' conduct is consistent with an applicable industry standard, that standard is *not going to change* and in the absence of discretionary review may continue to insulate industry participants from liability – as here.

This Court refused to sanction such a result in *Helling v. Carey*, 83 Wn.2d 514, 519 P.2d 981 (1974). The Court there held that it had the power to find negligence *as a matter of law* even though the defendant ophthalmologist had acted in compliance with the applicable industry standard and even though the jury had found in favor of the defendant. In support of its holding, the Court reiterated the rule, first announced by Justice Hand in 1932, that “[c]ourts in the end say what is required; there are precautions so imperative that even their universal disregard will not excuse their omission.” *Id.* at 519 (quoting *The T.J. Hooper*, 60 F.2d 737, 740 (2d Cir. 1932)) (emphasis in original). Having recognized that “it is the duty of the courts to say what is required,” the Court concluded: “We therefore hold, as a matter of law, that the reasonable standard that should have been followed under the undisputed facts of this case was the timely

giving of this simple, harmless pressure test to this plaintiff and that, in failing to do so, *the defendants were negligent.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).¹

The court’s holding in *Helling* has likely prevented grave harm to innumerable individuals both in this state and elsewhere, and the circumstances in this case are no less compelling. There is undisputed evidence that The Mountaineers could have directed its grooming contractor (Ski Lifts) to create a snow berm at the base of the access path *at no ongoing cost to The Mountaineers.* 5/20 RP at 130. Undisputed evidence also establishes that The Mountaineers could have simply left in place the vinyl fencing that it already had on site and was using at the base of the access path to exclude trespassers after business hours. *Id.* at 132-37. But rather than do so, The Mountaineers removed the fencing during the day (*id.* at 132) and directed Ski Lifts “to avoid the creation of a berm” (5/21 RP at 19) so as to “allow for pedestrian access” (5/22 RP at 118-19) – thereby allowing Jacob (or any other invitee) to sled into the highway and be killed. As *Helling* confirms, that is the very definition of negligence – *irrespective* of any alleged industry standard.

¹ The Ninth Circuit reached a similar result in *State of Oregon v. Tug Go-Getter*, 468 F.2d 1270 (9th Cir. 1972). Confronted with evidence that 40-50% of the barge traffic under a particular bridge was accomplished with a single tug, the court held that this evidence “seems only to suggest that 40 to 50 percent of the vessels navigating the river were guilty of negligence.” *Id.* at 1275.

The Court of Appeals addressed this issue, but missed the opportunity that this Court seized in *Helling*. The Court of Appeals held that, unlike the pressure test in *Helling*, “hay bales, fencing or snow berms carry the potential risks of serious injury or death.” App. 23. Although Mr. Stoddard testified to that effect, the Court of Appeals never *compared the risk of injury that he identified to the alternative*, which is the certainty of sledding across the highway at the base of the path and the risk of being hit by an oncoming vehicle. 5/28 RP at 80-92. That, too, is contrary to this Court’s opinion in *Helling*. See 83 Wn.2d at 518 (comparing incidence and gravity of harm to cost and simplicity of pressure test).

In any event, Plaintiffs have never advocated any particular precaution – whether a snow berm, hay bales, or fencing. Rather, the issue is whether snow recreation areas must construct some sort of barrier to *safely* prevent invitees from sliding down a groomed access path *directly* into a roadway. A ruling finding liability in the absence of any such safety measures would not only allow Plaintiffs to seek appropriate compensation for their losses, it would ensure that the many snow recreation areas that operate in Washington do not let what happened to

Jacob happen to anyone else. This, too, is an issue of substantial importance that should be determined by this Court.²

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should grant discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).