FILED

JAN - 4 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

E ng

Supreme Court No. 92540-2

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jan 04, 2016, 10:53 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 72415-1-I

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID PONCE and KARIM ZAPAN, individually and as Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of JACOB PONCE, a deceased minor child,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners

v.

THE MOUNTAINEERS,

Defendant-Respondent.

OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ruth Nielsen, WSBA #11136 Keating Bucklin & McCormack, Inc., P.S. 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4141 Seattle, WA 98104-3189 (206) 623-8861 Telephone (206) 223-9423 Facsimile

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioners ask the Court to accept review on two bases. First, Petitioners claim that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Supreme Court case law. See RAP 13.4(b)(1). It does not. Second, Petitioners claim there is a substantial public interest at stake that warrants discretionary review. See RAP 13.4(b)(4). Again, no, there is no public interest at stake in accepting discretionary review of this matter. Each basis for review acceptance will be addressed in turn.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Not in Conflict with Supreme Court Precedent.

Plaintiff cites several Supreme Court cases in a bid to convince the Court that Division I somehow contravened Supreme Court jurisprudence.

i. Miller v. Stanton

The Petition relies heavily on the case of *Miller v. Stanton*, 58 Wn.2d 879, 885, 365 P.2d 333 (1961). In *Miller*, a tavern patron was knocked down during a drunken New Year's Eve brawl between two other patrons. The injured person and her husband sued the tavern. The trial court admitted evidence of the practices of *one* other tavern as to policing and keeping order (the Eagles Lodge in Omak). *Id.* at 885. The Supreme Court determined that was the wrong ruling and remanded the case for a new trial. *Id. Miller* does not stand for the proposition Petitioners' claim.

The Court of Appeals accurately cited *Miller v. Stanton* in its decision as standing for the concept that evidence of industry custom

cannot be established by evidence of the conduct of a single person or business. AP 05. But Defense expert Stoddard, in a sworn declaration filed in opposition to Petitioners' motion in limine, described his opinion as being based on conducting "300-400 inspections at over 100 locations, the majority of which included areas specifically designated for snow-tubing or sledding." AP 07. *Miller* requires nothing more. *Miller* certainly does *not* stand for the proposition Petitioners' claim, that an expert must individually name each location when the cross-examining party did not bother to ask him or her.

ii. Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals

In Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, 130 Wn.2d 160, 922 p.2d 59 (1996), the plaintiff sued a pharmaceutical company for injuries caused by an asthma medication. At trial, the plaintiff sought to admit an advertisement for a similar medication that included a warning. The defendant pharmaceutical company objected on foundation grounds. The trial court excluded the exhibit because the plaintiff could not establish the source of the advertisement or the defendant's awareness of the information contained in the document. The Court of Appeals reversed, and the Supreme Court reversed the lower appellate court, essentially reinstating the original ruling of the trial court. *Id.* at 174.

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted in distinguishing *Young*, *Young* was a classic foundation case based on the parties' respective knowledge of the exhibit, not an industry custom case. AP 21-22. *Young* has no bearing on this case and is not in conflict with the decision below.

iii. Haysom v. Coleman Lantern Co.

Haysom v. Coleman Lantern Co. is a products liability case where the plaintiff sustained injuries after fire erupted when the plaintiff was filling a camp stove with fuel. 89 Wn.2d 474, 476, 573 P.2d 785 (1978). The relevant ruling from Haysom arose from the plaintiff's attempts to introduce the labeling practices of Sears, Roebuck & Co. to show that Coleman's labeling techniques were not in accordance with industry standards. Id. at 486-87. The trial court refused to admit the labeling practice based on the conduct of a single entity. Id. The Supreme Court determined the plaintiff's assignment of error to be without merit. Id.

Again, defense expert Stoddard testified that he had conducted hundreds of inspections of similarly situated snow recreation areas. AP 07. If Petitioners wanted Stoddard to name each snow area, they had every opportunity to ask him on cross-examination and chose not to. *See* AP 18.

B. This Case Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The issue on appeal involved the foundation for an expert's opinion. It does *not*, contrary to Petitioners' representations, call on the Court to prevent future deaths from occurring at recreational snow areas. As long as the wilderness is accessible to everyone, there will be accidents. There is nothing the Mountaineers, Petitioners, or the Court can do to prevent it. If Washington law were to change as a result of the Supreme Court reviewing this matter and reversing Division I, the most significant change would likely be shifting the burden of effective cross-

examination to the party offering that expert's testimony. That is, unless, the Court were inclined to set the sledding industry of care as Petitioners argue at pages 16 through 18 of their Petition. *See Helling v. Carey*, 83 Wn.2d 514, 519 p.2d 981 (1974).

Petitioners' half-hearted Helling v. Carey-based argument falls flat. First, the Court of Appeals declined to address that argument, citing Rule of Appellate Procedure 2.5, which allows an appellate court to refuse to review arguments not first presented to the trial court. See APP 22; Second, the Court of Appeals did nevertheless address the obvious problem with Petitioners' Helling analogy. Helling dealt with a glaucoma test that the experts agreed was simple, harmless, and virtually judgmentfree. Id. at 519. The Supreme Court held that the defendants were negligent as a matter of law in light of their failure to administer such a harmless test. *Id.* As Division I correctly noted, the remedy proposed by Petitioners' expert Gill was installing hay bales (which can freeze and effectively become cinderblocks) and snow berms (which can catapult a user into the air or become a rock-hard wall to smash into). Those remedies carry significant risks of serious injury or death. The Court of Appeals thus rejected the analogy as a poor comparison in light of the circumstances. AP 22-23.

While this case involves an undeniably tragic fact pattern, a jury considered the relevant factual issues in reaching its defense verdict. This case was not driven by complex legal issues, but rather the jury's efforts to determine what was reasonably safe for users of the Campus under the

circumstances. The trial court's rulings were based on uncontroversial concepts of fairness and the correct application of the rules governing the admission of expert testimony. Division I correctly refused to upset the jury's verdict and properly affirmed the trial court's discretionary rulings in an unpublished, unanimous decision. The Petition should be denied. *See* RAP 13.4(b).

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Mountaineers respectfully requests the Court deny the Petition for Discretionary Review.